2003

Utah v. Gordon Lee Walls : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This appeal is from a conviction based upon a plea of guilty by the defendant to the charge of Murder, a first-degree felony. The plea of guilty was taken before the Honorable Pamela G. Heffernan on the 26th day of March 2002.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

POINT I

**DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING THE
DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY
PLEA?**

PRESERVATION IN THE TRIAL COURT: *This issue was preserved for appeal* by the timely filing of a motion to withdraw his plea (R. 118), and hearings and a ruling on that motion.(R. 183, 184)

THE STANDARD OF REVIEW: The Court reviews “a trial court's denial of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea under an abuse-of-discretion standard.” *State v.*

Blair, 868 P.2d 802, 805 (Utah 1993).” The Court applies “the clearly erroneous standard for the trial court’s findings of fact made in conjunction with that decision.” *State v. Benvenuto*, 983 P.2d 556, 558 (Utah 1999) “However, the ultimate question of whether the trial court strictly complied with constitutional and procedural requirements for entry of a guilty plea is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness.” *State v. Benvenuto*, 983 P.2d 556, 558 (Utah 1999) (See also *State v. Thurman*, 911 P.2d 371, 372 (Utah 1996).

POINT II

DID THE TRIAL COURT COMMIT PLAIN ERROR IN FAILING TO INSURE THAT A PROPER RULE 11 DETERMINATION OF VOLUNTARINESS WAS MADE?

PRESERVATION IN THE TRIAL COURT: *This issue was not fully preserved for appeal* despite the timely filing of a motion to withdraw his plea (R. 118), and hearings and a ruling on that motion.(R. 183, 184), since the issue of the plea bargain was not addressed in the motion.

THE STANDARD OF REVIEW: Since the issue was not addressed in the Defendant’s motion for a new trial, the plain error standard applies. “To establish plain error, a defendant must show: (1) an error did in fact occur, (2) the error should have been obvious to the trial court, and (3) the error is harmful. *State v. Bradley*, 2002 UT App 348 (See also *State v. Ellifritz*, 835 P.2d 170, 174 (Utah Ct.App. 1992) and *State v. Olsen*, 860 P.2d 332, 334 (Utah 1993). “However, the

ultimate question of whether the trial court strictly complied with constitutional and procedural requirements for entry of a guilty plea is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness.” *State v. Benvenuto*, 983 P.2d 556, 558 (Utah 1999) (See also *State v. Thurman*, 911 P.2d 371, 372 (Utah 1996))

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

UTAH CODE ANNOTATED

Section 76-5-203. Murder

(1) As used in this section, "predicate offense" means:

(a) violation of Section 58-37d-4 or 58-37d-5, Clandestine Drug Lab Act;

(b) child abuse, under Subsection 76-5-109(2)(a), when the victim is younger than 18 years of age;

(c) kidnapping under Section 76-5-301;

(d) child kidnapping under Section 76-5-301.1;

(e) aggravated kidnapping under Section 76-5-302;

(f) rape of a child under Section 76-5-402.1

(g) object rape of a child under Section 76-5-402.3;

(h) sodomy upon a child under Section 76-5-403.1;

(i) forcible sexual abuse under Section 76-5-404;

(j) sexual abuse of a child or aggravated sexual abuse of a child under Section 76-5-404.1;

- (k) rape under Section 76-5-402;
- (l) object rape under Section 76-5-402.2;
- (m) forcible sodomy under Section 76-5-403;
- (n) aggravated sexual assault under Section 76-5-405;
- (o) arson under Section 76-6-102;
- (p) aggravated arson under Section 76-6-103;
- (q) burglary under Section 76-6-202;
- (r) aggravated burglary under Section 76-6-203;
- (s) robbery under Section 76-6-301;
- (t) aggravated robbery under Section 76-6-302; or
- (u) escape or aggravated escape under Section 76-8-309.

(2) Criminal homicide constitutes murder if:

- (a) the actor intentionally or knowingly causes the death of another;
- (b) intending to cause serious bodily injury to another, the actor commits an act clearly dangerous to human life that causes the death of another;
- (c) acting under circumstances evidencing a depraved indifference to human life, the actor engages in conduct which creates a grave risk of death to another and thereby causes the death of another;
- (d) (i) the actor is engaged in the commission, attempted commission, or immediate flight from the commission or attempted commission of any predicate offense, or is a party to the predicate offense; and
- (ii) a person other than a party as defined in Section 76-2-202 is

killed in the course of the commission, attempted commission, or immediate flight from the commission or attempted commission of any predicate offense;

(e) the actor recklessly causes the death of a peace officer while in the commission or attempted commission of:

(i) an assault against a peace officer under Section 76-5-102.4; or

(ii) interference with a peace officer while making a lawful arrest under Section 76-8-305 if the actor uses force against a peace officer;

(f) commits a homicide which would be aggravated murder but the offense is reduced pursuant to Subsection 76-5-202(3); or

(g) the actor commits aggravated murder but special mitigation is established under Section 76-5-205.5.

(3) Murder is a first-degree felony.

(4) (a) It is an affirmative defense to a charge of murder or attempted murder that the defendant caused the death of another or attempted to cause the death of another:

(i) under the influence of extreme emotional distress for which there is a reasonable explanation or excuse; or

(ii) under a reasonable belief that the circumstances provided a legal justification or excuse for his conduct although the conduct was not legally justifiable or excusable under the existing circumstances.

(b) Under Subsection (4)(a)(i) emotional distress does not include:

(i) a condition resulting from mental illness as defined in Section 76-2-305; or

(ii) distress that is substantially caused by the defendant's own conduct.

(c) The reasonableness of an explanation or excuse under Subsection

(4)(a)(i) or the reasonable belief of the actor under Subsection (4)(a)(ii) shall be determined from the viewpoint of a reasonable person under the then existing circumstances.

(d) This affirmative defense reduces charges only as follows:

(i) murder to manslaughter; and

(ii) attempted murder to attempted manslaughter.

Section 77-15-1- Incompetent person not to be tried for public offense.

No person who is incompetent to proceed shall be tried for a public offense.

Section 77-18-5

Reports by courts and prosecuting attorneys to Board of Pardons and Parole. In cases where an indeterminate sentence is imposed, the judge and prosecuting attorney may, within 30 days, mail a statement to the Board of Pardons and Parole setting forth the term for which the prisoner ought to be imprisoned together with any information which might aid the board in passing on the application for termination or commutation of the sentence or for parole or pardon.

Section 77-27-5- Board of Pardons and Parole authority.

(1)(a) The Board of Pardons and Parole shall determine by majority decision when and under what conditions, subject to this chapter and other laws of the state, persons committed to serve sentences in class A misdemeanor cases at penal or correctional facilities which are under the jurisdiction of the Department of Corrections, and all felony cases except treason or impeachment or as otherwise limited by law, may be released upon parole, pardoned, restitution ordered, or have their fines, forfeitures, or restitution remitted, or their sentences commuted or terminated.

Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure; Rule 11(e)

e) The court may refuse to accept a plea of guilty, no contest or guilty and mentally ill, and may not accept the plea until the court has found:

(1) If the defendant is not represented by counsel, he or she has knowingly waived the right to counsel and does not desire counsel;

(2) the plea is voluntarily made;

(3) the defendant knows of the right to the presumption of innocence, the right against compulsory self-incrimination, the right to a speedy public trial before an impartial jury, the right to confront and cross-examine in open court the prosecution witnesses, the right to compel the attendance of defense witnesses, and that by entering the plea, these rights are waived;

(4) (A) the defendant understands the nature and elements of the offense to which the plea is entered, that upon trial the prosecution would have the burden of proving each of those elements beyond a reasonable doubt, and that the plea is an admission of all those elements;

(B) there is a factual basis for the plea. A factual basis is sufficient if it establishes that the charged crime was actually committed by the defendant or, if the defendant refuses or is otherwise unable to admit culpability, that the prosecution has sufficient evidence to establish a substantial risk of conviction;

(5) the defendant knows the minimum and maximum sentence, and if applicable, the minimum mandatory nature of the minimum sentence, that may be imposed for each offense to which a plea is entered, including the possibility of the imposition of consecutive sentences;

(6) if the tendered plea is a result of a prior plea discussion and plea agreement, and if so, what agreement has been reached;

(7) the defendant has been advised of the time limits for filing any motion to withdraw the plea; and

(8) the defendant has been advised that the right of appeal is limited.

These findings may be based on questioning of the defendant on the record or, if used, a written statement reciting these factors after the court has established that the defendant has read, understood, and acknowledged the contents of the statement. If the defendant cannot understand the English language, it will be sufficient that the statement has been read or translated to the defendant.

Unless specifically required by statute or rule, a court is not required to inquire into or advise concerning any collateral consequences of a plea.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Defendant was originally charged in an information filed June 15, 2001 with the offense of Murder, a first degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann.

§ 76-5-203 (R. 10). On June 15, 2001 the Defendant made an initial appearance and the information was read (R. 16). On August 27, 2001 , the preliminary hearing was held, and the Defendant was bound over for arraignment. (R. 78) The case was eventually set for trial, which was scheduled for a five-day jury trial to begin on April 22, 2002. The Defendant ultimately entered a plea of guilty to the offense of Murder, a first degree felony as charged, before the Honorable Judge Pamela Heffernan on March 26, 2002.(R. 99)

On April 25, 2002, the Defendant filed a pro se motion to withdraw his guilty plea,(R. 111) and after several delays the case was set for hearings and a determination on the motion. On January 28, 2003, Judge Heffernan denied the Defendant's motion,(R. 184) and sentenced the Defendant to an indeterminate term of 5 years to life in the Utah State Prison. The prison term was commenced on that

day. (R. 184/57) The Defendant has received an original hearing date before the Board of Pardons in June 2016.

This judgment and conviction was entered on February 18, 2003, and the Defendant filed his notice of appeal on February 20, 2003.(R. 170)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Defendant was originally charged in an information dated June 15, 2001, with the offense of Murder, a first degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-203 (R. 10).

After several court appearances the Defendant entered into plea negotiations, and on March 26, 2002, the Defendant entered a plea of guilty as charged to Murder, a first-degree felony.(R. 186/13) The sole plea negotiation was “the State has agreed to recommend to the parole board that he serve a period of time of incarceration between 10 and 12 years.” (R. 186/2)

At the time of the entry of the guilty plea, the trial court conducted a Rule 11 colloquy. Attorney Martin Gravis represented the Defendant at the hearing. (R.186/2) The Defendant stated that he had talked to Mr. Gravis and if he had “any problems understanding [the plea] or need[ed] to talk to Mr. Gravis about anything, [he] just need[ed] to let [the court] know that”. (R. 186/4)

The trial court then went though the Defendant’s rights, including the right against compulsory self-incrimination, the right to a speedy trial before an

impartial jury, the presumption of innocence, and the right to have the State pay to subpoena any witnesses the Defendant desired for his defense. (R. 186/4,5) The court further advised the Defendant of his right to confront the witnesses against him, and the right not to testify at trial, and that his decision not to testify could not be used against him. (R. 186/5) The court advised the Defendant that the State had the burden of proof, and would be required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt each element of the.(R. 186/6) The court then went through the elements of the offenses to which the Defendant was pleading guilty. (R. 186/6) The court advised the Defendant that by pleading guilty he would be waiving these rights. (R. 186/5)

The trial court then went through the possible maximum sentences on the charge to which the Defendant was pleading guilty, (R. 186/7) The court told the Defendant “You should also be aware that just because the State writes a letter to the parole authority doesn’t mean they have to follow their recommendation.” To which the Defendant answered, “Yeah, I’ve been told.” (R. 186/7) The court further advised the Defendant “ So you shouldn’t rely on anything that the State has indicated they may or may not do in entering this sentence because you could serve a lot longer than what they’re going to recommend” (R. 186/7,8) The court advised the Defendant that he had 30 days to withdraw his guilty plea, and that by pleading guilty he had very limited appeal rights. (R. 186/8) The court established that he was pleading guilty of his “own free will and choice” and that he was not

under the influence of anything that would affect his ability to enter a knowing guilty plea. (R. 186/8-10) The Defendant did tell the court that he was supposed to be taking the prescription drug of Haldol and/or Thorazine, but that he was not taking those medications. (R. 186/9,10) The court then asked the prosecutor to give a factual basis for the plea, to which the prosecutor gave an adequate factual basis.

The trial court, in asking the Defendant if he had in fact done the things the prosecutor claimed stated “No, Mr. Tillet kept attacking me”, and “Mr. Tillet attacked me twice that night. The first time I didn’t kick him in the head or nothing. Then later that evening then [sic] he attacked me again. That’s when he got kicked in the head.” (R. 186/12)

The court then went through an expiation agreement (statement in advance of plea) that the Defendant had signed. It was established that the Defendant did not read the document, but that the Defendant’s attorney Mr. Gravis had read it to him, “not exactly word for word, but pretty much.” (R. 186/13) The court acknowledged that “I don’t think it’s going to do a whole lot of good unless it was read word for word, but I think I’ve covered his rights sufficiently anyway.” (R. 186/14)

On April 25, 2002, the Defendant filed a pro se motion or letter to withdraw his guilty plea,(R. 111) and on April 30th 2002 the court requested that the public defenders file a formal motion. (R. 181/2) At the next hearing on August 6, 2002 the defense requested that an alienist be appointed to assess the Defendant’s mental

status, specifically, his ability to have knowingly entered his plea of guilty, and the court appointed two alienist to explore this issue. (R. 181/4-12) The court then continued the case until November 20, 2002 for a hearing as to the Defendant's competence to enter a plea. At that hearing two witnesses were called, Mr. Rhett Potter, a Licensed Clinical Social Worker, and Dr. Rick Hawks, a psychologist.

Mr. Potter interviewed the defendant and found "Bottom line on it was that seemed to me he was tracking appropriately, that he understood what the charges were, he understood the possible penalties." (R. 183/17) He testified that the Defendant told him that he heard voices, which had told him to enter the guilty plea, but Mr. Potter stated, "With the information that he gave me about the way the voices were ostensibly acting at that point in time did not seem consistent with the way that auditory hallucinations work with a person who has schizophrenia." (R. 183/20) Mr. Potter stated that at the time of the interview that he "felt him to be competent" but that he didn't make a specific finding of competence for the period of March 26, 2002. (R. 183/25)

Dr Rick Hawks also evaluated the Defendant for mental competency. He testified that it was possible that the Defendant was faking mental illness. (R. 183/32) He also found originally that the Defendant may have so mental illness, including schizophrenia, but could not make such a finding, or rule such a diagnosis out. (R. 183/32,33) Furthermore, he did not do an analysis of the

Defendant's mental state as of the date of the plea, and therefore the court continued the hearing, appointed another psychologist, and instructed both to determine the Defendant's mental competency as of the date of the plea. (R. 183/63-67)

After additional examinations Dr. Hawks produced an amended report, and testified on Jan28, 2003 that at the time of the plea the Defendant "appeared to comprehend and appreciate the charges and allegations against him." (R. 184/10) He demonstrated the ability to disclose to counsel pertinent facts, events, and states of mind," (R. 184/10) and was able to "adequately [comprehend] and [appreciate] the range and nature of possible penalties." (R. 184/10) He understood the adversary nature of the proceedings against him" and manifested appropriate courtroom behavior on March 26 [2002]" (R. 184/10,11) Dr. Hawks testified that the Defendant did have a mental illness in the "schizophrenic spectrum", "a psychotic thought disorder, perhaps." (R. 184/15)

Dr. Beverly O'Connor, a neuropsychologist was then called to testify. She testified that although it was possible the Defendant was faking a mental illness, she thought he was trying to cooperate, and not faking a mental illness. (R.184/27,33) Dr. O'Connor opined that on March 26, 2002 the Defendant was not competent, due to three factors. She stated, "I felt like he had a mental illness – a probable mental illness that was either some kind of delusional disorder, or a

paranoid schizophrenia, combined with a low verbal IQ, combined with verbal comprehension difficulties.” (R. 184 / 35)

The court then ruled, “Mr. Walls was competent to enter his plea, that he did knowingly and voluntarily enter his plea.” (R. 184/51), and that the preponderance of the evidence indicated that the Defendant was malingering. (R. 184/53) The court then sentenced the Defendant to an indeterminate term in the Utah State Prison of 5 years to life, with a recommendation of credit for time served. The prison term was commenced on that day. (R. 184/57)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Defendant entered a plea of guilty pursuant to plea negotiations on March 26, 2002. At the time of the entry of his pleas of guilty, the Defendant was present in court and the trial court commenced a Rule 11 (Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure) colloquy. The Defendant was suffering from a mental illness, for which prescription medication had been prescribed, but which the Defendant was not taking. The Defendant was suffering from “a probable mental illness that was either some kind of delusional disorder, or a paranoid schizophrenia, combined with a low verbal IQ, combined with verbal comprehension difficulties.” (R. 184 / 35) Although the court made a finding that the defendant was competent to enter his plea, the evidence would suggest that there were questions as to the Defendant’s mental ability to enter the plea, and therefore the Defendant was

entitled to have his timely filed motion to withdraw his plea granted. The trial court denied this motion. Furthermore, the Defendant pled guilty pursuant to a plea negotiation in which the only “bargain” the Defendant was offered, that the prosecution would recommend to the Board of Pardons that he serve 10 to 12 years, was an illusory promise that both the prosecution and defense counsel would know had no effect on the Defendant’s prison sentence.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY PLEA

On March 26, 2002 the Defendant entered a guilty plea as charged to the first-degree felony murder charge. On or about April 15, 2002 the Defendant moved the trial court to allow him to withdraw that plea. The trial court thereafter held several hearing, including two days of evidentiary hearings on the Defendant’s motion, including the testimony of three alienists who testified as to the Defendant’s probable mental state at the time of the entry of plea. After those hearings, the trial court denied the Defendant’s motion to withdraw his plea.

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