2003

Utah v. Gordon Lee Walls : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I. Defendant raises two claims that the trial court erred under rule 11 in finding that his plea was voluntary. However, neither of these claims were raised below. Although this Court has previously held that such claims can be reached under the plain error doctrine, this Court should overrule that precedent as lacking analytical support and contrary to the plain language of the plea statute. It should then reject defendant's claims as not properly before this Court.

Alternatively, this Court should reject defendant's claims as invited error where defendant repeatedly told the lower court during discussions on his motion to withdraw that the court's "rule 11 colloquy was done adequately and, in fact, even more than . . . adequately."

Finally, defendant's claims fail on their merits. First, the evidence before the trial court at the time of defendant's plea did not indicate any competency issue. Thus, the trial court did not plainly err in accepting defendant's plea without ordering a competency proceeding. Second, at the plea hearing, defendant affirmatively indicated his understanding that a letter from the State concerning defendant's sentence was not binding on the parole board. Because defendant was aware of the value of the State's promise to send the letter, the trial court did not plainly err in accepting defendant's plea based on that promise.

Issue II. Defendant claims that the trial court erred in denying his motion to withdraw his guilty plea because there is "doubt as to the Defendant's mental state" at the time he entered his plea. However, defendant fails to marshal the evidence supporting the trial court's malingering finding. Thus, defendant's claim fails.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD NOT REACH DEFENDANT'S CLAIMS THAT HIS PLEA WAS TAKEN IN VIOLATION OF RULE 11 WHERE DEFENDANT DID NOT RAISE THOSE CLAIMS IN HIS MOTION TO WITHDRAW BEFORE THE TRIAL COURT

Defendant claims that the trial court erred in denying his motion to withdraw his guilty plea because his plea was not voluntary under Rule 11. Aplt. Br. at 17, 23.

Defendant claims first that his plea was not voluntary under rule 11 because he was not competent at the time he entered it. Aplt. Br. at 17. He claims second that his plea was not voluntary under rule 11 because the State's promise to write a letter to the Board of Pardons had minimal value, and the trial court "did not make an adequate record to ensure that the Defendant did in fact understand the nature and value of any promises made to him." Aplt. Br. at 23 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

This Court should reject defendant's rule 11 claims as not properly before this Court. Alternatively, this Court should reject these claims as invited errors.

A. Defendant's rule 11 claims are not properly before this Court.

This Court has previously held that it can consider challenges to a plea hearing raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of a motion to withdraw under the plain error doctrine. *See* pp. 22-26 *infra*. Because that holding lacks analytical support and is inconsistent with the plain language of Utah Code Ann. § 77-13-6 (the plea statute), this Court should overrule it. After doing so, this Court should reject defendant's rule 11 claims, raised for the first time on appeal, as not properly before this Court.

Importantly, in making the argument set forth below, the State does not argue that a defendant can never raise a plain error claim on appeal from the denial of a motion to withdraw. Rather, the State argues only that such plain error claim must relate to the conduct of the motion court in addressing the claims raised in the defendant's motion—such as when the motion court proceeds with a pro se defendant without inquiring as to whether the defendant has waived his right to an attorney. The plain error

doctrine cannot be manipulated by a defendant to raise new challenges to the trial court's conduct at the plea hearing where, under the plea statute, defendant was required to raise those claims before the motion court.

1. *Stare decisis.*

The doctrine of stare decisis, ““under which the first decision by a court on a particular question of law governs later decisions by the same court, is a cornerstone of Anglo-American jurisprudence that is crucial to the predictability of the law and the fairness of adjudication.”” *State v. Menzies*, 889 P.2d 393, 399 (Utah 1994) (quoting *State v. Thurman*, 846 P.2d 1256, 1269 (Utah 1993)). The doctrine therefore imposes strict requirements on courts to follow the dictates of previously established law. *See id.* at 399 & n.3. However, “the doctrine is neither mechanical nor rigid as it relates to courts of last resort.” *Id.* at 399.

“Those asking [this Court] to overturn prior precedent have a substantial burden of persuasion.” *Id.* at 398; *see also Wheeler v. McPherson*, 2002 UT 16, ¶ 12 n.3, 40 P.3d 632. They can succeed only if this Court becomes ““clearly convinced that the rule was originally erroneous or is no longer sound because of changing conditions and that more good than harm will come by departing from precedent.”” *Menzies*, 889 P.2d at 399 (quoting John Hanna, *The Role of Precedent in Judicial Decision*, 2 Vill.L.Rev. 367, 367 (1957)); *see also Wheeler*, 2002 UT 16, ¶ 12 n.3; *City of Hildale v. Cooke*, 2001 UT 56, ¶ 36, 28 P.3d 697.

Still, “[w]hen precedent and precedent alone is all the argument that can be made to support a court-fashioned rule, it is time for the rule’s creator to destroy it.” *Menzies*, 889 P.2d at 399 (quoting *Francis v. Southern Pac. R.R.*, 333 U.S. 445, 471 (1948) (Black, J., dissenting)). Similarly, the “[s]tare decisis effect of [a] case is substantially diminished by the fact that the legal point therein was decided without argument.” *Id.* (quoting 20 Am.Jur.2d *Courts* § 193 (1965)).

This Court’s decisions reaching claims raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of a motion to withdraw lack analytical support. Moreover, they are inconsistent with the plain language of the plea statute. Consequently, this Court should overrule those decisions.

2. The lack of analytical support for this Court’s precedent allowing appellate courts to reach new claims raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of a motion to withdraw a plea detracts from its stare decisis force.

The State has found no Utah Supreme Court case considering a claim raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea. *State v. Marvin*, 964 P.2d 313, 319 (Utah 1998), did hold that an appellate court could reach a claim challenging a plea “for the first time on appeal if plain error or exceptional circumstances exist” where defendant had not filed a motion to withdraw. However, at the time, the statute governing motions to withdraw pleas contained no time limit for filing them. Thus, the supreme court could have easily determined that any decision by it not to reach the issue on appeal would merely mean that the issue would reappear after defendant raised the issue in a subsequent motion to withdraw. That interpretation is

consistent with the supreme court's recent discussion of *Marvin*, in which the court held that *Marvin* no longer applies now that the plea statute limits the time for filing motions to thirty days. *See State v. Reyes*, 2002 UT 13, ¶ 4, 40 P.3d 630.

Nonetheless, this Court has previously reached such plain error issues, even when defendant's claims do not attack the motion proceeding but instead attempt to smuggle in previously unclaimed errors in the plea hearing. *See, e.g. State v. Dean*, 2002 UT App 323, ¶¶ 8-9, 57 P.3d 1106 (rejecting State's argument that issues on appeal from denial of motion to withdraw should be limited to issues raised below), *cert. granted*, 64 P.3d 586 (Utah 2003); *State v. Hittle*, 2002 UT App 134, ¶ 5, 47 P.3d 101 (reaching claim for first time on appeal where timely motion to withdraw filed below), *cert. granted*, 59 P.3d 603 (Utah 2002); *State v. Tarnawiecki*, 2000 UT App 186, ¶ 11, 5 P.3d 1222 (reaching rule 11 claim for first time on appeal even though untimely motion to withdraw deprived trial court of jurisdiction), *overruled by State v. Reyes*, 2002 UT 13, ¶ 4, 40 P.3d 630 (holding appellate court lacked jurisdiction to consider plain error challenge to plea where no timely motion to withdraw filed); *State v. Ostler (Ostler I)*, 2000 UT App 28, ¶ 8, 996 P.2d 1065 (reaching rule 11 claim for first time on appeal even though untimely motion to withdraw deprived trial court of jurisdiction), *affirmed on other grounds by State v. Ostler (Ostler II)*, 2001 UT 68, 31 P.3d 528 (affirming based on conclusion that motion to withdraw was timely filed in trial court; not reaching propriety of court of appeals' plain error decision); *State v. Pharris*, 798 P.2d 772, 774 (Utah App. 1990) (reaching

unpreserved claim for plain error where defendant filed a timely motion to withdraw); *State v. Valencia*, 776 P.2d 1332, 1334 (Utah App. 1989) (per curiam) (same).

However, the analytical bases in these cases for reaching such unpreserved claims is not strong. For example, in *Valencia*, this Court decided to reach the plain error issue with no analysis of the propriety of that action except a citation to *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 242 (1969). *See Valencia*, 776 P.2d at 1334 (“‘It was error, plain on the face of the record, for the trial judge to accept petitioner’s guilty plea without an affirmative showing that it was intelligent and voluntary.’”) (quoting *Boykin*, 395 U.S. at 242).

Boykin, however, was a direct appeal in a capital murder case in which the reviewing court was mandated by statute “to comb the record for any error prejudicial to the appellant, even though not called to [the court’s] attention in brief of counsel.” *Boykin*, 395 U.S. at 241 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted); *see also State v. Honie*, 2002 UT 4, ¶ 67, 57 P.3d 977 (holding that because of special nature of death penalty, court can reach issue on appeal not raised below or briefed by parties; however, court’s authority does not abrogate defendant’s burden to preserve and brief issues), *cert. denied*, 537 U.S. 863 (2002); *State v. Tillman*, 750 P.2d 546, 552-53 (Utah 1987).

Because no such statute or case law exists in appeals from motions to withdraw, *Boykin* provides no support for the *Valencia* court’s decision to apply the plain error doctrine to claims that were not raised before the trial court in a timely motion to withdraw.

Pharris then relied on *Valencia* and *State v. Gibbons*, 740 P.2d 1309, 1311 (Utah 1987). *See Pharris*, 798 P.2d at 774. *Valencia*, as previously discussed, provides only weak support for that holding. *Gibbons* provides none. In *Gibbons*, the defendant had not filed a motion to withdraw his plea, and thus had not raised his claims below, but instead apparently challenged his plea on direct appeal from his conviction. *See Gibbons*, 740 P.2d at 1311. The State argued that the court should not reach the defendant's unpreserved claims even under the plain error doctrine. *See id.* The court in fact accepted the State's position. *See id.* Instead of reaching the defendant's claims, the supreme court noted that the plea statute then in effect "sets no time limit for filing a motion to withdraw the plea" and then remanded the matter to the trial court "to enable defendant to file a motion to withdraw his guilty pleas." *Id.* The *Gibbons* court noted: "This disposition is . . . consonant with the policy of allowing trial judges to have the opportunity to address an alleged error." *Id.* at 1312.

In *Ostler I*, this Court relied on *Marvin*, 964 P.2d at 318, and *State v. Price*, 837 P.2d 578, 580 (Utah App. 1992), to hold that it had jurisdiction to consider a plain error claim on appeal even absent a timely motion to withdraw. *See Ostler*, 996 P.2d at 1068. As already discussed, the supreme court has since held that *Marvin* was decided when the plea statute contained no time limitation for filing motions to withdraw and that *Marvin* no longer applies now that the plea statute limits the time for filing motions to withdraw to thirty days. *See State v. Reyes*, 2002 UT 13, ¶ 4, 40 P.3d 630. Although *Price* discussed a claim raised for the first time on appeal, it later decided that discussion was

unnecessary because defendant's motion to withdraw was not filed within the statutory time limit. *See Price*, 837 P.2d at 583-84. Finally, the plain error part of *Ostler* was overruled in *Reyes*, 2002 UT 13, ¶ 4, which held that an appellate court cannot use plain error to reach a claim over which the trial court lacked jurisdiction due to the failure to file a timely motion to withdraw.

Because *Tarnawiecki* relied solely on *Ostler I*, *Tarnawiecki* provides no greater insight as to the propriety of using plain error to reach a claim raised for the first time on appeal in this context. *See Tarnawiecki*, 2000 UT App 186, ¶ 11. Nor does *Hittle*, which cited *Tarnawiecki* and then unrelated general case law defining plain error. *See Hittle*, 2002 UT App 134, ¶ 5.

Finally, *Dean* did not cite to any of this case law to justify its decision to reach a plain error claim. Rather, *Dean* reached the defendant's plain error claim merely by concluding that because *Reyes*—which held that an appellate court cannot reach a plain error claim when a defendant has not filed a timely motion to withdraw—is distinguishable, it “does not preclude this court from reviewing [the defendant's] plain error argument.” *Dean*, 2002 UT App 323, ¶ 9.

Thus, although this Court has repeatedly reached challenges to the plea taking that are raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of a motion to withdraw, neither this Court nor the supreme court has ever seriously analyzed the propriety of that result, particularly in light of the plain language of the plea statute and case law interpreting it. Consequently, the stare decisis value of this precedent is, at best, weak. *Cf. Menzies*, 889

P.2d at 399 (noting “[s]tare decisis effect of [a] case is substantially diminished by the fact that the legal point therein was decided without argument”) (citation omitted); *id.* (noting “[w]hen precedent and precedent alone is all the argument that can be made to support a court-fashioned rule, it is time for the rule’s creator to destroy it”) (citation omitted). An analysis of the plea statute and case law addressing its purposes demonstrates that such precedent is in fact clearly erroneous and should be overruled. *See id.*

3. Precedent allowing appellate courts to reach claims raised for the first time on appeal from the denial of a motion to withdraw a plea is inconsistent with the plain language of the plea statute; thus, this Court should reject it.

This Court’s “primary goal in interpreting statutes is to give effect to the legislative intent, as evidenced by the plain language, in light of the purpose the statute was meant to achieve.” *State v. Burns*, 2000 UT 56, ¶ 25, 4 P.3d 795; *see also Brixen & Christopher Architects, P.C. v. State*, 2001 UT App 210, ¶ 14, 29 P.3d 650. In doing so, this Court “assume[s] that ‘each term in a statute was used advisedly.’” *Stephens v. Bonneville Travel, Inc.*, 935 P.2d 518, 520 (Utah 1997) (citations omitted). In addition, “statutory term[s] should be interpreted and applied according to [their] usually accepted meaning, where the ordinary meaning of the term[s] results in an application that is neither unreasonably confused, inoperable, nor in blatant contradiction of the express purpose of the statute.” *State v. Coonce*, 2001 UT App 355, ¶ 9, 36 P.3d 533 (citations omitted).

Utah's plea statute provides:

- (1) A plea of not guilty may be withdrawn at any time prior to conviction.
- (2)(a) A plea of guilty or no contest may be withdrawn only upon good cause shown and with leave of the court.
 - (b) A request to withdraw a plea of guilty or no contest is made by motion and shall be made within 30 days after the entry of the plea.
- (3) This section does not restrict the rights of an imprisoned person under Rule 65B, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

Utah Code Ann. § 77-13-6(1999).³

Under the plain language of this statute, a defendant may challenge his guilty or no contest plea in two ways: either as part of his criminal case by filing a motion to withdraw, or as a collateral challenge by filing a petition for post-conviction relief. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 77-13-6(2), (3) (1999).

If the challenge is made collaterally, the breadth of the challenge is defined by the rules applicable to post-conviction petitions. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 77-13-6(3).

If the challenge is made as part of the criminal case, the challenge “must be in the context of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea, the denial of which can be appealed.” *Summers v. Cook*, 759 P.2d 341, 344 (Utah App. 1988). That context is defined by section 77-13-6(2).

³Section 77-13-6 was substantially amended effective May 5, 2003. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 77-13-6 (Supp. 2003). However, the substantive changes in the amended statute do not alter the analysis that follows.

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